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          1  COMMITTEE ON HIGHER EDUCATION

          2                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Good afternoon.

          3  This is Councilman Charles Barron, Chair of the

          4  Higher Education Committee. I want to welcome all of

          5  you to our very critical, very important hearing, on

          6  connecting college students, CUNY students, in

          7  particular, to health insurance.

          8                 Health care is a national issue of

          9  mammoth proportions, as it relates to 45 to 47

         10  million Americans who are without health care

         11  insurance.

         12                 On a national level, they are

         13  fighting for a single payor, universal, health care

         14  insurance plan.  A nation that is having

         15  difficulties paying for that, but not having

         16  difficulties for an illegal, unjust, immoral war.

         17                 They are going to be talking about

         18  cutting close to $75 billion from Medicare

         19  nationally, and 25 billion from Medicaid.  That is a

         20  $100 billion health care proposal from the Bush

         21  Administration, and by the way, that's out of a $2.9

         22  trillion national budget, I don't even know how to

         23  make all those zeros.  That is, I'm certain, the

         24  highest budget of a nation in the world, and New

         25  York City has a $56 billion budget, which is larger
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          2  than 48 states in the United States, and larger than

          3  every African country, every Caribbean country, and

          4  larger than many European countries.  But yet, when

          5  it comes to something as fundamental and basic as a

          6  necessity in life, as health care, we have problems

          7  with getting that to the working poor, to the

          8  working-class families, and to our struggling

          9  students.

         10                 We wanted to see what was happening

         11  in CUNY on this whole question of health insurance

         12  for our students, 450,000 students, and maybe

         13  200-and-some-odd thousand that are actually, will be

         14  affected by health care issues.  We just wanted to

         15  have a hearing so that we can put that on a front

         16  burner.

         17                 I want to thank Council Member Tony

         18  Avella, who is always here, on time and ready to go,

         19  and a staunch supporter of CUNY.  Give him a big

         20  hand-clap.  We give hand-claps at our hearings.  He

         21  is modest, but he is one of the great supporters of

         22  CUNY, and one of the more independent strong voices

         23  around here in the City Council, who I appreciate

         24  and respect.

         25                 To my team, Ms. Baaba Halm, and Ms.
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          2  Shauneequa Owusu, give them a big hand-clap.  They

          3  do all the research and make me appear much smarter,

          4  and more intelligent than what I really am.  They

          5  make me look good.  And to my Legislative Director,

          6  and one who will be working with CUNY, and

          7  responsible for our staff being connected to CUNY,

          8  and that is Ms. Joy Simmons, we thank her so much as

          9  well.

         10                 I'm going to read my opening

         11  statement, and then we'll get right into our

         12  hearing.

         13                 This afternoon the Committee will be

         14  examining the health care insurance options

         15  available to college students, and how CUNY students

         16  become aware of and access such options.

         17                 Health insurance affects access to

         18  health care, as well as the financial well-being of

         19  families.  Living without health insurance results

         20  in a myriad of negative consequences on a person's

         21  current and long-term health.

         22                 The uninsured are less likely to have

         23  a usual course of care outside the emergency room,

         24  often go without screenings, preventive care and

         25  often delay or do not receive needed medical care
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          2  and are subject to medical care that is more costly

          3  than that provided for insured Americans.

          4                 A lack of health care insurance can

          5  also have a substantial financial impact.  Over a

          6  third of the uninsured have a serious problem paying

          7  medical bills and nearly a quarter are contacted by

          8  collection agencies for payments related to medical

          9  care.

         10                 There are 1.9 million people age 19

         11  to 34, young adults, in New York City representing

         12  27 percent of the City's population.  Thirty-three

         13  percent or 600,000 of these young adults are

         14  uninsured representing the highest uninsured rate of

         15  any age group.  Young adults, including college

         16  students, may be eligible to participate in public

         17  health insurance programs, such as Medicaid, Family

         18  Health Plus, Child Health Plus and Healthy New York.

         19                 According to data provided by CUNY,

         20  since 2003, only 1,878 CUNY students have enrolled

         21  in public health insurance programs through its'

         22  campuses.

         23                 Although New York State offers a

         24  number of public health insurance programs, it is

         25  clear that these programs are underutilized.
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          2  Research indicates that eligible individuals often

          3  fail to apply for public health insurance programs,

          4  because they are unaware of the programs, or assume

          5  that they do not qualify for coverage.  Barriers to

          6  enrollment also includes complicated enrollment, and

          7  renewal processes.

          8                 Based on these facts, more needs to

          9  be done to make college students aware of our public

         10  health insurance programs, and that they may be

         11  eligible to participate in such programs.

         12                 At today's hearing the Committee on

         13  our Higher Education will seek to learn more about

         14  the health insurance options available to college

         15  students, and how they access such options.

         16                 I also want to include in my

         17  statement that there are 2,469 students included in

         18  GHI, which is more of a private health, so we have

         19  an accurate amount in total number of students that

         20  are included.  We don't know whether students have

         21  jobs that include health care insurance, or whether

         22  they are teamed with family members or spouse that

         23  include health care.  We are just trying to get a

         24  picture of it.  It is hard to get a clear picture of

         25  it if we don't have those numbers.  The only numbers
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          2  we have are roughly 4,000 and change, are with

          3  public or private health insurance out of hundreds

          4  of thousands of students and that's the purpose of

          5  this hearing to get at how we can do something about

          6  that and what other kinds of things that we need to

          7  recommend.

          8                 So, that is the purpose of this

          9  hearing, and with that, I'll turn to our Counsel to

         10  call the first panel up.

         11                 I'm sorry, Tony, did you want to say

         12  anything?

         13                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  Marjorie

         14  Cadogan, Garrie Moore, Carol Jackson.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  I want to say

         16  this as well, today is lobby day up in Albany, for

         17  the City Council.  Well, not lobby day, but actually

         18  to discuss our State agenda.  So a lot of the

         19  Council Members are in Albany, and this is also the

         20  beginning of our budget process.  So this is the

         21  time, so you may not see other Council Members here,

         22  and it is because many of them on this Committee are

         23  up in Albany.  They told me to let you know that

         24  they are so very much committed, but they have other

         25  responsibilities in Albany today.

                                                            9

          1  COMMITTEE ON HIGHER EDUCATION

          2                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  Please raise

          3  your right hands.

          4                 Do you swear that the testimony that

          5  you are about to give today will be truthful and

          6  accurate to the best of your knowledge and ability?

          7                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

          8  CADOGAN:  I do.

          9                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  Please

         10  introduce yourself before you begin your testimony.

         11                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         12  CADOGAN:  Thank you.  My name is Marjorie Cadogan.

         13  Good afternoon, Chairman Barron, Members of the

         14  Higher Education Committee.

         15                 Thank you for the opportunity to

         16  speak before you today about the important issue of

         17  encouraging college students and other young adults

         18  to access health insurance.

         19                 I am the Executive Deputy

         20  Commissioner of the Human Resources Administration

         21  Office of Citywide Health Insurance Access.

         22                 During the Bloomberg Administration,

         23  the City's targeted and intensive efforts to

         24  facilitate enrollment in health insurance caused

         25  significant decreases in the number of uninsured.
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          2  Between Fiscal Year 2002 and Fiscal Year 2007,

          3  nearly 900,000 people have been involved in public

          4  health insurance, a growth of 35 percent.

          5                 As of November 2006, more than 2.5

          6  million New York City residents are covered by

          7  public health insurance programs administered by HRA

          8  and as of February 2007, over 160,000 are enrolled

          9  in the State-administered Child Health Plus Program.

         10                 While the rest of New York State and

         11  the nation experienced decreases in health insurance

         12  coverage, New York City has experienced steady

         13  increases.

         14                 According to the latest report from

         15  United Hospital Fund, the number of uninsured adults

         16  in New York City declined from 1.41 million in

         17  2002/2003 to 1.26 million in 2003/2004.

         18  Additionally, while employer-sponsored health

         19  insurance has decreased in the rest of the State and

         20  across the country, New York City has experienced an

         21  increase in the proportion of adults insured through

         22  employer sponsored coverage.  From 50 percent in

         23  2000/2001 to 51 percent in 2003/2004.

         24                 Despite the City's efforts to

         25  increase enrollment in public and affordable private
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          2  health insurance programs, young adults still have

          3  high uninsurance rates.

          4                 According to the Department of Health

          5  and Mental Hygiene's 2005 Community Health Survey,

          6  26.9 percent or 200,000 of New York City's young

          7  adults aged 18 to 24 were uninsured.  There are

          8  three main reasons for this:  Changes in private and

          9  public health insurance eligibility when young

         10  adults reach 19; the high cost of private health

         11  insurance coverage, relative to income; and the

         12  failure of some young adults, even those who can

         13  afford it, to recognize the importance of health

         14  insurance.

         15                 When young adults reach 19, they are

         16  no longer eligible for public health insurance for

         17  children, which offers free or low-cost health

         18  insurance to those with incomes up to 250 percent of

         19  the Federal poverty level.

         20                 As adults, college-aged individuals

         21  can only access public health insurance if their

         22  income is at or below 150 percent of the Federal

         23  poverty level.

         24                 For example, a student living alone

         25  without any children can obtain coverage through
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          2  Family Health Plus, if his or her monthly earnings

          3  are $843 or below, which is 100 percent of the

          4  Federal poverty level.

          5                 If the student has a child, he or she

          6  will be eligible for Family Health Plus, if his or

          7  her monthly incomes are $1,699 or below, which is

          8  150 percent of the Federal poverty level for a

          9  family size of two. Medicaid income eligibility is

         10  even lower.

         11                 Young adults who have private health

         12  insurance coverage, through a parent's health

         13  insurance plan, are covered from age 19 to 23, only

         14  if they are enrolled as full-time college students.

         15  Although some employers have different provisions,

         16  in general, part-time college students and other

         17  young adults are not covered by their parents'

         18  policy after they reach the age of 19.

         19                 It's important to know that

         20  approximately half of the colleges and universities

         21  in New York City mandate that their students have

         22  health insurance.  If a college student is not

         23  covered by his or her parents' plan, health

         24  insurance costs are added to the price of tuition.

         25  Examples of New York City-based universities who
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          2  mandate that college students have health insurance,

          3  are the New School, Columbia, NYU, Long Island

          4  University, and Marymount Manhattan College.

          5                 Of those colleges and universities

          6  who do not mandate coverage, only the City

          7  University of New York has structured a special

          8  private insurance option for their full-time and

          9  part-time students, a GHI Health plan specifically

         10  designed for CUNY students taking at least six

         11  credit hours.

         12                 The benefits and costs of the GHI

         13  CUNY student health insurance program represent a

         14  more affordable option than coverage purchased on

         15  the individual market.

         16                 Monthly premiums are approximately

         17  $166 for single students and $472 for families.

         18  When prescription drugs are included, the monthly

         19  premiums are approximately $275 for single students,

         20  and $782 for families.

         21                 As a comparison, the average monthly

         22  HMO premium rate in the individual private market is

         23  much higher, at $755 for an individual and $2,333

         24  for a family.

         25                 Through our partnerships, first and
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          2  foremost with CUNY, we are promoting Healthy New

          3  York, a New York State subsidized private health

          4  insurance program, as a more affordable option to

          5  address the health insurance needs of students who

          6  are aging off their parents' policy.

          7                 Students 19 or older are eligible for

          8  Healthy New York at 250 percent of the Federal

          9  poverty level.  They do not have to include their

         10  parents income in their household income, but when

         11  applicable, they must include the income of a spouse

         12  with whom they reside.

         13                 Healthy New York's requirement that

         14  someone be uninsured for one year before they can

         15  access this coverage is waived for students.  Aging

         16  off a parents' policy is considering a qualifying

         17  exception.

         18                 The average monthly premiums for

         19  Healthy New York, excluding cost sharing and high

         20  deductible plans are $238 for an individual and $717

         21  for a family.

         22                 Other affordable options available to

         23  New York City's college students include Brooklyn

         24  Health Works and Working Today, otherwise also known

         25  as "Freelancers Union".
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          2                 The monthly premium for Brooklyn

          3  Health Works are $205 for an individual and $604 for

          4  a family.  For Working Today, the monthly premium

          5  are $255 for an individual and $759 for a family.

          6  The aforementioned cost exclude any cost sharing or

          7  high-deductible plans.

          8                 To address changes in eligibility,

          9  limited affordability options and loss of coverage,

         10  due to aging out of parents policy, the City employs

         11  several strategies to expand health insurance for

         12  college students and other young adults. These

         13  include, internet-based tools, as well as

         14  neighborhood outreach and enrollment.

         15                 Last Fall the City launched ACCESS

         16  NYC, which can be used by students as an

         17  Internet-based tool to access multiple health human

         18  service benefits for themselves and their families.

         19  Students can use the program at any time, from any

         20  location, in seven different languages, putting

         21  information about health insurance and other

         22  benefits just a few clicks away.  After completing

         23  the pre-screening process, students receive a list

         24  of the programs for which they are potentially

         25  eligible.  They can print partially-populated
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          2  application forms, search for the office locations

          3  to apply for benefits, and create an account to

          4  access their information at a later time.  Both the

          5  public health insurance and Healthy New York

          6  applications are available through ACCESS NYC.  To

          7  apply for public health insurance programs, the

          8  student can visit a convenient neighborhood location

          9  where the application process will be fully

         10  explained by the facilitated enrollers.  After

         11  printing the Healthy New York application, students

         12  can mail it directly to the participating health

         13  plan of their choice.

         14                 HRA/OCHIA's consumer-friendly

         15  website, and the web address is included in my

         16  testimony, also helps students make informed health

         17  coverage choices.  It features A Smart Decision For

         18  College Students, a guide to health insurance

         19  options, and there are copies of this decision guide

         20  that are available for the Committee to review.

         21                 The site's on-site screening system

         22  also allows students to find out which public or

         23  private options they qualify for.

         24                 Additionally, they can learn about

         25  the low cost and free care available to them until
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          2  they are able to obtain health insurance coverage.

          3                 Special neighborhood-based efforts to

          4  facilitate enrollment in public health insurance

          5  programs occur through the City's HealthStat

          6  initiative, a Citywide collaboration of 14 City

          7  agencies, 16 managed care plans, and a wide array of

          8  community and faith-based organizations.

          9                 Administered by HRA/OCHIA, the

         10  HealthStat partnerships provide outreach and

         11  facilitated enrollment for public health insurance

         12  in neighborhood-based venues such as schools,

         13  diverse places of worship, public housing

         14  developments and community events.  CUNY's Office of

         15  Student Affairs is a vital HealthStat partner in

         16  connecting students to health insurance coverage and

         17  in providing administrators with the tools and

         18  resources for facilitated enrollment in its 18

         19  campuses.

         20                 Through our partnership facilitated

         21  enrollers are available at freshman orientations,

         22  wellness and health fairs, AIDS awareness events,

         23  Healthy Heart Days, and other health-related

         24  conferences.

         25                 OCHIA also contributes to forums
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          2  about health insurance programs and the issues CUNY

          3  students face when accessing those programs.

          4  Examples include HRA/OCHIA's workshop, entitled

          5  Social and Health Services for Immigrant Students,

          6  and HRA/OCHIA's collaboration with the CUNY Daily

          7  News Citizenship Now! Call-In Program to address

          8  immigrant eligibility issues, including such

          9  subjects as public charge and sponsor liability.

         10                 We are committed to ensuring that

         11  college students and their parents are aware of and

         12  have access to health insurance options.  Our

         13  partnership with CUNY provides important

         14  opportunities to realize that commitment.

         15                 We also recognize that our ongoing

         16  efforts to enroll all those eligible for public

         17  health insurance programs and expand affordable

         18  options for individual workers and small business

         19  will address the important needs of college students

         20  and other young adults.  This is in keeping with the

         21  Mayor's agenda to expand health insurance access. We

         22  look forward to working with the Council in pursuit

         23  of these initiatives.

         24                 Thank you once again for the

         25  opportunity to testify today about connecting
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          2  college students to health insurance.  I am

          3  available to answer any questions that you may have

          4  at this time.

          5                 VICE CHANCELLOR MOORE:  Thank you,

          6  Mr. Barron.  I'm Garrie Moore, the Vice Chancellor

          7  for Student Development at the City University of

          8  New York.

          9                 Mr. Barron, and distinguished members

         10  of the Higher Education Committee, and your

         11  competent and most able, capable staff, thank you so

         12  very much.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  And my what?

         14                 VICE CHANCELLOR MOORE:  Your

         15  competent and most able staff.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Oh, okay.

         17                 VICE CHANCELLOR MOORE:  Did you say

         18  the City of New York has a 56 billion budget?  Wow,

         19  that is impressive.  Thank you.

         20                 I would like to begin by, again,

         21  thanking you, Mr. Barron, and the Council for

         22  continued attention to the student services areas of

         23  CUNY.  Your attention, concern and sensitivity thus

         24  far on issues such as access for students with

         25  disabilities and other student issues show your
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          2  understanding of the importance of out-of-classroom

          3  experiences for our students.

          4                 Today I am pleased to have this

          5  opportunity to speak with you about connecting

          6  college students with health insurance.  Joining me

          7  is Dr. Carol Jackson, Vice President for Student

          8  Development at College of Staten Island, and I have

          9  other staff members sitting in the audience who are

         10  available to answer questions as well.

         11                 The University is committed to

         12  addressing health care issues and providing health

         13  education to our diverse student population.  The

         14  health and well-being of CUNY students, in

         15  particular, accessing affordable health care is

         16  critical to student success.  One of my goals is to

         17  assure within our means that all CUNY students have

         18  access to health insurance coverage.  To this end,

         19  in October 2006, I charged a committee to recommend

         20  to me an aggressive CUNY system-wide approach to

         21  assuring that all students have access to health

         22  insurance coverage.  Members of this committee

         23  include the University Assistant Dean for Student

         24  Affairs, representatives from Health Services,

         25  General Counsel and Institutional Research in the
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          2  Central Office, as well as Vice Presidents

          3  representing the senior, community and graduate

          4  institutions that make up CUNY.  The Chair of this

          5  Committee, sitting to my right, Dr. Carol Jackson,

          6  will share with you some very specific details of

          7  the committee's findings and recommendations.

          8                 I have personally seen the important

          9  role that access to health insurance plays in

         10  student success.  With so many burdens facing

         11  students, external to the classroom, the additional

         12  stress caused by potential and future health

         13  problems tends to increase the likelihood that they

         14  will be forced to leave school.

         15                 This issue is only compounded for

         16  students without health insurance.  Students without

         17  health insurance can pose a significant retention

         18  issue for institutions of higher education.

         19                 For example, many uninsured students

         20  may leave school because of medical bills that they

         21  are unable to pay for themselves and their family

         22  members.

         23                 In addition, students who do not have

         24  insurance may not go to the doctor for minor

         25  problems, and then eventually when the minor problem
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          2  becomes major, they cannot come to school.

          3                 As it stands, CUNY students are

          4  eligible to participate in a comprehensive health

          5  insurance program developed exclusively for CUNY by

          6  Group Health Incorporated, or GHI.

          7                 This program is available to

          8  matriculated CUNY students, including domestic and

          9  foreign undergraduate and graduate students enrolled

         10  for six credits or more per semester.

         11                 By contractual agreement with GHI,

         12  CUNY is able to offer health coverage to eligible

         13  students as a group making possible premium rates

         14  that are lower than those available to individuals

         15  for this type of coverage.

         16                 The GHI CUNY student health insurance

         17  plan is designed specifically to meet the needs of

         18  college students.  This program offers a choice of

         19  two options that provide quality coverage at a

         20  moderate price, one with prescription drug coverage,

         21  and one without. Students choose the option with the

         22  benefits and costs that meet their needs.  GHI has

         23  thousands of participating physicians and health

         24  care providers throughout the New York State area

         25  and therefore is able to meet a student's medical
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          2  need with no annual deductible and a minimum

          3  copayment per visit.

          4                 An important benefit of this is that

          5  students may also enroll eligible dependents, such

          6  as spouse, children or domestic partner.

          7                 Another added benefit is that

          8  students may continue coverage for up to six months

          9  after they graduate from CUNY, by which time

         10  students may seek coverage through an employer or

         11  another health plan.

         12                 CUNY foreign students, who are

         13  eligible, may participate with International

         14  Security Overseas Services Assistance Incorporated,

         15  an international coverage plan that covers costs

         16  associated with only medical evacuation and

         17  repatriation.

         18                 These plans are made readily

         19  available during the Fall and Spring registration

         20  period through a variety of means listed in my

         21  document.

         22                 Students have an opportunity to meet

         23  with the GHI representative to ask questions and to

         24  register for the plan.  All of this information may

         25  also be obtained in the CUNY website.  As of Fall
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          2  2006, CUNY has 2,469 enrollments in the GHI program.

          3  And as you noted already, a number much too small

          4  for our student population.

          5                 In addition to the CUNY sponsored

          6  packages, CUNY attempts to supplement its resources

          7  through partnerships with City agencies, most

          8  notably the Office of Citywide Health Insurance

          9  Access.  Since 2002, OCHIA has helped connect

         10  Student Health Services to facilitated enrollers;

         11  for example, public health plans, such as Family

         12  Health Plus, throughout the year, providing ongoing

         13  enrollment opportunities and matching those services

         14  that best accentuate the community in which the CUNY

         15  campus resides.

         16                 CUNY and OCHIA campaigns have

         17  included a health insurance education and promotion

         18  component to freshman orientations, immunization

         19  clinics, wellness events, student activities, back

         20  to school campaigns and conferences, such as

         21  immigration issues for CUNY administrators and

         22  cross-cultural issues and counseling CUNY students.

         23                 Since 2003, OCHIA's HealthStat

         24  initiative report that enrollment in public health

         25  insurance plans in CUNY colleges have totaled 1,878.
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          2  Again, a number that has already been noted.

          3                 OCHIA and CUNY continue to meet

          4  regularly to discuss ongoing strategies and

          5  initiatives.

          6                 It is important to note that the

          7  numbers under-represent the actual and potential

          8  enrollments based on eligible students.  Activities

          9  such as daily tabling by facilitated enrollers are

         10  routinely taking place on every campus.  However, a

         11  reliable structure for reporting these numbers has

         12  not yet been established due to staffing

         13  constraints.  We believe that there are also other

         14  health insurance options students are utilizing or

         15  may have and be unaware of.  For example, an

         16  employer, parents coverage, et cetera, as well as

         17  services they may seek in place of health insurance,

         18  such as walk-ins to community health clinics.

         19                 Although CUNY engages in many

         20  activities to bring about awareness to students on

         21  this issue, we know that clearly we need to do more

         22  and with City Council's help, we can do and will do

         23  more.

         24                 In a moment you will hear from my

         25  colleague.  As I mentioned before, she will share

                                                            26

          1  COMMITTEE ON HIGHER EDUCATION

          2  some very specific issues and some very specific

          3  recommendations regarding where we are going with

          4  our student health plan.

          5                 The Committee has issued some bold

          6  recommendations that I believe will serve not only

          7  students, faculty and staff, but community members,

          8  as well, and with these recommendations come the

          9  need for additional resources and I hope that the

         10  City Council will consider partnering with CUNY in

         11  this regard.

         12                 The University would welcome the

         13  support of the City Council in expanding access,

         14  outreach and education programs for our students,

         15  faculty, staff and all citizens of New York.  The

         16  University's goal is to enroll those who are not yet

         17  enrolled in adequate health insurance programs and

         18  with the Council's commitment and continued support,

         19  together we will achieve this goal.

         20                 I would also like to mention that an

         21  additional effort to be proactive about addressing

         22  the health and well-being of our students, the City

         23  University of New York's Urban Health Collaborative,

         24  a group of CUNY faculty and students from public

         25  health, nursing, nutrition, psychology, sociology
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          2  and other disciplines joined with CUNY to develop

          3  the CUNY Campaign Against Diabetes, a five-year plan

          4  to strengthen the University's and the City's

          5  ability to bring diabetes under control.

          6                 The campaign is activating CUNY's

          7  unique assets, more than 200,000 students from the

          8  communities most affected by diabetes, professional

          9  programs, nurses, public health professionals and

         10  social workers and dozens of researchers are already

         11  engaged in addressing this important issue.  The

         12  Campaign also provides a model for improving public

         13  health while increasing the educational and research

         14  capabilities of CUNY.

         15                 I think it is important to note that

         16  this campaign will too strengthen the University and

         17  the City's already existing initiatives.  It will be

         18  a true partnership all to benefit the citizens of

         19  New York.

         20                 Thank you, Mr. Barron, and your

         21  Committee, for hearing me.

         22                 DR. JACKSON:  Good afternoon,

         23  Chairman Barron and distinguished Members of the

         24  Higher Education Committee.  My name is Carol

         25  Jackson and I am the Vice President for Student
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          2  Affairs at the College of Staten Island.  As you

          3  know, I am also Chair of the Health Insurance

          4  Committee that Vice Chancellor Moore formed to

          5  address the important issues that we are discussing

          6  here today.

          7                 The charge of the Committee, as Vice

          8  Chancellor Moore mentioned, was to recommend an

          9  aggressive CUNY system-wide approach to assuring

         10  that all students have access to health insurance

         11  coverage.

         12                 Before I share with you the

         13  recommendations of the Committee, on a personal note

         14  I want to add that this issue hits at the heart of

         15  situations that I had to deal with in my 36 years

         16  working with students, as well as a situation in my

         17  own family.

         18                 At CSI, we are fortunate to have a

         19  well-staffed health center that sees hundreds of

         20  students each month, and I have copies of our

         21  brochure if the Committee would like to see that.

         22                 Our nurse practitioner reports

         23  frequently that she sees students, either without

         24  health insurance, or who are under-insured, who let

         25  minor illnesses develop into bigger problems.
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          2                 One student without health insurance,

          3  we'll call him Joseph, came to the Health Center

          4  with a throat abscess and high fever, which can be

          5  dangerous medically, after waiting ten days.  He

          6  hoped it would go away.  Our nurse practitioner was

          7  able to prescribe and antibiotic, not the one she

          8  preferred, but it was lower cost.  Fortunately, the

          9  student's illness did resolve, but not after missing

         10  a week of classes.

         11                 Another student, Amy, at age 24, too

         12  old to be covered under her parents' insurance,

         13  delayed a medical test because she could not afford

         14  to pay for it. The problem became an emergency and

         15  she required hospitalization.

         16                 At CSI, 25 percent of our over 11,000

         17  student undergraduates are over the age of 25.

         18  Among our 1,100 graduate students, 73 percent are

         19  over 25.  This group often represents students who

         20  might have had health insurance under the parents'

         21  coverage but who have aged out.  This group often

         22  does not have the resources to join GHI's good

         23  student health insurance coverage, the cost of which

         24  is close to our cost of tuition.

         25                 In addition, many students feel
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          2  invulnerable and feel that if they get sick the

          3  problems will be minor and resolvable without any

          4  medical intervention.  Let me say that our nurse

          5  practitioner did refer our sore-throated student,

          6  Joe and Amy, to our OCHIA Advisors, who are on

          7  campus regularly, for them to apply for appropriate

          8  medical insurance and I think it's in the works now.

          9                 We at CSI have an excellent

         10  relationship with the Office of Citywide Health

         11  Insurance Access and send students to them whenever

         12  they are on campus.  In fact, OCHIA had a conference

         13  at CSI last year that helped me find health

         14  insurance for my niece, who was living at home and

         15  working only part-time.  My sister and I are

         16  eternally grateful that we learned at the conference

         17  of a program through OCHIA that would provide

         18  insurance for her because she had graduated from

         19  college and did not work full-time.

         20                 Our CUNY Committee has been meeting

         21  for almost six months now and during that time we

         22  have examined data, spoken to national experts in

         23  the field of student health insurance.

         24                 I am here with you today to share the

         25  findings of the Committee and the recommendations
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          2  made to Vice Chancellor Moore.  I would like to add

          3  that the timing of this hearing could not be more

          4  perfect.

          5                 Indeed it was just two weeks ago when

          6  the Committee last met and agreed upon these

          7  recommendations, and I am pleased to say that this

          8  is the first public forum in which we will have the

          9  opportunity to share our findings.

         10                 The Committee began work by seeking

         11  to understand the broader issue of health insurance

         12  nationally and locally as a context for exploring

         13  the issues facing CUNY students.

         14                 Among the college student population,

         15  those who work full-time may be covered through

         16  employer insurance plans, and some students may be

         17  covered through parental insurance plans.  But for

         18  many CUNY students, the reality is that full-time

         19  students are unlikely to be insured because they are

         20  no longer dependents of their insured parents and

         21  often times the parents themselves lack insurance.

         22  Among full and part-time students, lack of insurance

         23  coverage can be due to an inability to afford

         24  coverage, a lack of awareness of health insurance

         25  options, cultural discrepancies or simply a belief

                                                            32

          1  COMMITTEE ON HIGHER EDUCATION

          2  that are young and healthy and, therefore, have no

          3  need for health insurance.

          4                 For the majority of our undergraduate

          5  student population, we found that awareness and

          6  education are critical and represent one of the

          7  primary barriers facing students access to health

          8  insurance.  There are many Citywide resources

          9  available for those unable to afford our special GHI

         10  policy, but we have concluded that despite the

         11  existing efforts in providing information to the

         12  students, they still may not be aware of these

         13  resources or they may not understand how important

         14  health insurance is.

         15                 We, therefore, recommend the

         16  implementation of an aggressive educational program

         17  that is modeled after the very successful CUNY

         18  Citizenship Project.  This program would involve

         19  providing information directly to uninsured students

         20  at key access points on campus to foster an

         21  environment of health insurance literacy and

         22  urgency.

         23                 We further recommend that educational

         24  programs reach out, not only to students, but

         25  include faculty and staff, as well as community
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          2  members.

          3                 A key part of this aggressive

          4  campaign would be providing dedicated staff at each

          5  of the campuses, designated as Health Insurance

          6  Advisors, or Liaisons, who would be responsible for

          7  coordinating efforts to identify specifically

          8  students who do not have health insurance, provide

          9  those students with information, and assist students

         10  in actually signing up for a plan.  If any of you

         11  have had to help parents, like I did, navigate

         12  signing up for Medicare Part D, prescription

         13  coverage, you know what fortitude it takes to

         14  complete the process and get people enrolled.  The

         15  same can happen for those trying to navigate

         16  insurance choices.

         17                 In addition, we recommend that this

         18  Health Insurance Liaison would be available on

         19  campus to provide similar services to those in the

         20  general community, as well.  This person would also

         21  actively collect data, report measurements of

         22  effectiveness, and also evaluate and maintain

         23  on-line resources.

         24                 Vice Chancellor Moore has endorsed

         25  our recommendations, and I am here with him to ask
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          2  for your help and partnership in providing this

          3  important service to our students and community

          4  members.  Your support of this important endeavor,

          5  would not only be an investment in CUNY, but the

          6  City, as well.  The work that our health insurance

          7  advisors would do, would reverberate into the

          8  community.

          9                 The eventual goal is that more New

         10  York City residents, both students and non-residents

         11  alike, would enroll in a health insurance plan.

         12                 I thank you very much for this

         13  opportunity, and look forward to any of your

         14  questions.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  I want to thank

         16  all of you for your testimony.  And once again, we

         17  see this as a critical issue. As a matter of fact,

         18  health on a national Citywide, Statewide level, I

         19  see that as more important than affordable homes, a

         20  living wage job, a PhD, because you can have all the

         21  degrees you want, and if you are unhealthy, you are

         22  not going to be able to enjoy your success.  You can

         23  have the most affordable house in the world, but if

         24  you are unhealthy, you are not going to enjoy that,

         25  and you can have a high-paying job with bad health,
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          2  it is a major, major problem.  I really feel for

          3  students because the lack of access to health care

          4  insurance, as they are going through all the other

          5  myriad of problems or challenges we have in a

          6  university.

          7                 I would like to connect the health

          8  concerns with students with disabilities.  We are

          9  going to have a whole hearing on that in April.  Our

         10  April hearing is going to be connecting, -- when we

         11  say health, we also -- you can't even imagine, just

         12  multiply by 1,000 the problems students with

         13  disabilities have around health care issues with

         14  those who don't have it.

         15                 What I wanted to ask you, though, I

         16  wanted to see, and I know that it might be a little

         17  challenging, if we can get to the number of students

         18  that, and I guess it will be a real challenge, that

         19  are not covered, not receiving anything from their

         20  parents, or have been aged out, or not on any of

         21  your plans, do we have a sense of that number?

         22                 VICE CHANCELLOR MOORE:  Yes.  Mr.

         23  Barron, I have one of my staff members, who is here

         24  with me, and I have asked them to be prepared to

         25  provide some numbers.  May I ask them to come --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Absolutely.

          3                 MR. LOWNEY:  Good afternoon, I'm

          4  Corey Lowney, Associate Director in the Office of

          5  Student Affairs at CUNY.

          6                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  Please raise

          7  your right hand. Do you swear that the testimony

          8  that you are about to give is truthful and accurate?

          9                 MR. LOWNEY:  I do.

         10                 Again the data I have to report is

         11  not an exact number, however, it is a percentage of

         12  students from a, it's called a Student Experience

         13  Survey, which is conducted every two years through

         14  the Office of Institutional Research at the Central

         15  Office of CUNY.  The last numbers we have is based

         16  on the question that asked, "do you have health

         17  insurance or belong to an HMO?" And of the

         18  respondents, which were all undergraduates, 69

         19  percent did have insurance or belong to an HMO that

         20  reported.  Now, again, these numbers are a

         21  representative sample of CUNY and not, again, an

         22  exact number.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Sixty-nine

         24  percent of those that you -- how many were out of

         25  that survey?
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          2                 MR. LOWNEY:  The exact number

          3  surveyed?   Yes, the survey was sent to 1,000

          4  students per campus and the response rate was about

          5  25 percent.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  So, it gets

          7  there, but it's still quite a few that we are not

          8  getting to.  I guess it would be very, very,

          9  challenging to get to all the students that are

         10  uninsured.  But if we could find some kind of way to

         11  do that just to get a sense of the number, what the

         12  problem is, so that when we go to fight for things,

         13  we'll know what we're fighting for.

         14                 For OCHIA, if you don't mind me

         15  saying that?

         16                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         17  CADOGAN:  That's fine.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Are there

         19  instances where the college students who are, you

         20  know, it's one thing to have applications laid out

         21  for them, that they come, and they're invited, and

         22  how do you reach out to them to get them aware of

         23  the health insurance that they should have access to

         24  or could have access to?

         25                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER
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          2  CADOGAN:  As I briefly eluded to in my testimony, we

          3  take advantage of opportunities and events that

          4  occur on CUNY campuses, such as freshman orientation

          5  events, where freshman are going through a series of

          6  instruction and information sessions about the

          7  college experience.  We've integrated information

          8  about health insurance options, and the ability to

          9  access health insurance.  And when we talk about

         10  accessing public health insurance for college

         11  students, in many of these events, it is using a

         12  facilitated enroller, who is either representative

         13  of a managed care plan that provides the actual

         14  product, or a community-based organization that can

         15  sit down with the students and actually help them

         16  complete the application, and we'll submit the

         17  application for them.  So it is a facilitated effort

         18  to help them get through the process and not just do

         19  it on their own.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  But in terms of

         21  this, the outreach to students is basically freshman

         22  orientation --

         23                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         24  CADOGAN:  That's only one.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  What other?
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          2                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

          3  CADOGAN:  We participate in wellness days that CUNY

          4  has focused on specific disease issues, or general

          5  health issues.  Again, where we would facilitate

          6  having a facilitative enroller present to work with

          7  students who may be eligible to consider both the

          8  public and private options that they are available

          9  for.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Do you engage in

         11  any mass mailings, or mailing to students?

         12                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         13  CADOGAN:  We have not done mass mailings to CUNY

         14  students --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Because that

         16  would be one way to reach CUNY students, a mailing.

         17                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         18  CADOGAN:  That is one way, but the other tools that

         19  are available broadly to all students are the

         20  Internet. Something that we know, I think generally,

         21  is that college students are quite Internet savvy

         22  and use the internet largely in terms of their

         23  educational experience and other communication.  And

         24  both, through our own website and through the ACCESS

         25  NYC tool, CUNY students, and I believe that this
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          2  tool is also available on CUNY's website, students

          3  can access a system to examine what programs they

          4  are eligible for and actually pursue --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  And how is that

          6  information gotten to them that this is available,

          7  our website is available?

          8                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

          9  CADOGAN:  That again is part of the information that

         10  we supply in the events that we participate in --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Right.

         12                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         13  CADOGAN:  -- And I believe --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  I guess my

         15  little concern that it all goes back to those events

         16  and dependent upon how many students come out to

         17  wellness days, or a wellness event or freshman

         18  orientation, that's the freshman.  I'm just thinking

         19  that maybe we need to look at other ways of getting

         20  to a larger number of students to let them know that

         21  this is available and that they have some more

         22  options.

         23                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         24  CADOGAN:  Well, your point is well taken, Council

         25  Member, and I think in the context of the testimony
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          2  that has been provided by Vice Chancellor Moore and

          3  Vice President Jackson, that look at having

          4  dedicated resources and a more concentrated

          5  education campaign broadly available for CUNY

          6  students will be assistive in getting that general

          7  word out.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  I was thinking

          9  of having you ask the Mayor to give us all the money

         10  for everything that we need. Either he could do it

         11  personally, out of his five to 10 billion, or

         12  through the City Agencies; you think you could do

         13  that for us?

         14                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         15  CADOGAN:  I think that that request has already been

         16  made by you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Okay.

         18                 There's a few other questions. What

         19  about the enrollment procedures; are they different

         20  for different health plans or health insurance?  The

         21  procedures, are some more complicated than the

         22  other?  Are some procedure friendly, or would there

         23  be questions people would have concerning

         24  immigration, or any questions around things that

         25  students might have concerns about?
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          2                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

          3  CADOGAN:  Certainly for the public health insurance

          4  programs, issues of immigration status are to be

          5  addressed.  Particularly for Medicaid and Family

          6  Health Plus, immigration status is an eligibility

          7  issue.  So that would have to be addressed, and for

          8  some students, as well as for individuals generally,

          9  there is a concern about applying for government

         10  programs that seek that kind of information.

         11                 You should be aware that another

         12  thing that we make students, as well as the general

         13  public aware of, not only in the CUNY events that we

         14  do, but the events that we do in the community at

         15  large, with organizations and others, is that

         16  information provided with regard to immigration

         17  status, in the context of applying for public health

         18  insurance, is not used against the individual as

         19  they are applying to regularize their status for

         20  citizenship.  That is a policy of the Bureau of the

         21  Citizen Immigration Services.  So we do make a point

         22  of making that information readily available to the

         23  new immigrants of the City of New York, so that the

         24  issue of fear and distrust in applying for a public

         25  program is something that we can try to allay and
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          2  encourage them to take advantage of programs that

          3  they are eligible for.

          4                 With regard to the private options,

          5  particularly the ones that we work to promote,

          6  Healthy New York, Freelancers Union, Brooklyn Health

          7  Works and others, many of those programs have

          8  Internet-based application processes that students

          9  and others can take advantage of.  I would not say

         10  that they are totally easy, but they are

         11  user-friendly, in terms of the information that is

         12  customarily requested.  There is an effort to make

         13  the application process, both on the public and the

         14  private side, one that individuals can accommodate

         15  and try to pursue in a way that moves them from

         16  being uninsured to being insured.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  When a student

         18  applies, what kind of follow-up is done?  How do you

         19  know who is actually receiving the coverage after

         20  they apply?  How many applicants, how many students

         21  apply?  How many actually get the coverage?  And the

         22  ones who don't, what are some of the reasons?  How

         23  many students are rejected or don't get the coverage

         24  and what are some of the reasons why?  Is there any

         25  sense of that?
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          2                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

          3  CADOGAN:  Council Member, I can't give you kind of

          4  global Citywide estimates with regard to "college

          5  students who have applied for public or private

          6  coverage," with regards to percentages who have

          7  received or not received.  I can tell you generally,

          8  with regard to public health insurance, once an

          9  individual submits their application with the

         10  required documentation, proof of citizenship, for

         11  Medicaid and Family Health Plus, such proof is not

         12  required for Child Health Plus.  If students have

         13  children that need coverage they can also take

         14  advantage of the Child Health Plus program.

         15                 The application is reviewed and a

         16  determination is made by HRA and a determination is

         17  sent to the individual notifying them of their

         18  coverage.

         19                 Certainly on the private side,

         20  similarly the application is reviewed and

         21  notification sent to the applicant of their

         22  coverage.

         23                 The one thing I do want to correct,

         24  however, that was mentioned early in your remarks,

         25  in opening the hearing, the number of enrollments
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          2  that you reflected for college students in CUNY,

          3  across the CUNY campuses as a result of OCHIA's

          4  efforts with CUNY is but a fraction, probably of the

          5  public health insurance enrollments for CUNY

          6  students and students at large.  Those enrollments

          7  reflect kind of time-limited focused events of the

          8  nature that I have mentioned, but there are events

          9  that occur, as I believe Vice Chancellor Moore had

         10  mentioned, on the campus, continually, that may not

         11  be reflected in that reporting.  And again, I think

         12  having a focused structure around health insurance,

         13  as is being contemplated, will help us gather more

         14  of that data about what actually is happening both

         15  with public insurance enrollment, what is happening

         16  in terms of students having access and taking

         17  advantage of private coverage, and what other things

         18  we need to do to maximize that.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  That's why it is

         20  important for you to give us numbers.  If these

         21  numbers don't accurately reflect, that is the

         22  purpose of this hearing, to get to accurate numbers.

         23  That's what we want to find out.  How do we do that?

         24  How do we get to the actual numbers so that we can

         25  know what we are up against, or what we have to deal
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          2  with?

          3                 Okay, we are on the same page.

          4                 Yes.

          5                 DR. JACKSON:  Yes, Councilman Barron.

          6  I can certainly volunteer the Subcommittee with Vice

          7  Presidents at CUNY to get more specific numbers.  We

          8  have been operating, what Corey suggested that there

          9  had been a survey that statistically seems to be

         10  sufficient.  That approximately one-third of our

         11  student body is uninsured.  So one-third of 200,000

         12  is what is the approximate number based on the work

         13  of the Student Satisfaction Survey.  And we can try

         14  and get better figures, if you would like, and I

         15  would be happy to have our Committee work on that to

         16  provide you more specific information.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Well that

         18  one-third is with the respondents, what 1,000 from

         19  each campus, that you put out there, but not --

         20                 DR. JACKSON:  That's true.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  So, that might

         22  not even be as accurate.

         23                 DR. JACKSON:  It's absolutely true.

         24  The Office of Institutional Research has a formula

         25  that where they feel comfortably able to make a more
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          2  accurate statement than based on what they consider

          3  a representative sample, they would cautiously --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Well, as a

          5  student of Social Statistics, that I was forced to

          6  take when I went to CUNY, I know what they can do

          7  with random sampling, and different procedure on

          8  gathering information and interpreting information,

          9  but I think we want to get to those real bodies the

         10  best way we can.  I think more important, as we are

         11  trying to find out more who is uninsured and who is

         12  insured, that we beef up the programs, that we try

         13  to get more funds into actually getting the staff

         14  that's necessary to have procedures put in place,

         15  and to have actual insurance.

         16                 I noticed that you mentioned a few

         17  insurance companies, what are some of the other

         18  insurance companies, or insurance options that are

         19  available?

         20                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         21  CADOGAN:  I mentioned earlier, Council Member, a

         22  student guide that we have developed for college

         23  students that we worked with CUNY, to make available

         24  to CUNY students, and it points to some special

         25  options that we promote that are available for

                                                            48

          1  COMMITTEE ON HIGHER EDUCATION

          2  students, but also that are available in focus for

          3  small businesses.  Because as we have spoken about,

          4  many students are employed, working for small

          5  employers, some of whom may not be offering health

          6  insurance.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Right.

          8                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

          9  CADOGAN:  So some of those options include programs

         10  like Healthy New York, which is a State subsidized

         11  program available to individuals and businesses, for

         12  those individuals earning up to 250 percent of the

         13  federal poverty level.  Brooklyn Health Works, which

         14  is a healthy New York program, that is available for

         15  businesses in Brooklyn, specifically, with

         16  additional subsidies to bring down the cost of the

         17  premiums for those programs.  Working Today, our

         18  Freelancers Union, which is available to those

         19  individuals who are working 20 hours or less in

         20  certain industries, and offers health insurance

         21  coverage to them through three different kinds of

         22  plans.  HealthPass, which is available to

         23  businesses, it is not available to individuals, but

         24  an option that may be helpful to some of the

         25  business that students are employed by.
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          2                 So, in the decisiontry, we try to

          3  walk students through the questions that they should

          4  ask themselves, and consider, as they look at some

          5  of these options as possibly being viable for

          6  themselves.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  I've heard some

          8  of the illness. I heard diabetes, and then the

          9  throat problem was sooner.  What are some of the

         10  illnesses that students have come to you about, that

         11  you are aware of, some more than others?  Do you

         12  have any sense of that?

         13                 DR. JACKSON:  I think certainly our

         14  students run the gamut of all the health issues.  I

         15  had a young woman on student government actually,

         16  who actually, between classes, she was found to have

         17  ovarian cancer and required an operation.  I think

         18  that our students who are -- the average age at the

         19  College of Staten Island, for example, is 28.  It is

         20  not necessarily a traditional age group. So we are

         21  dealing with people from 18 to 75 or 80.  So the

         22  students have all of the illnesses that one would

         23  see across the population in the City.  We certainly

         24  have seen cancers reported.  Very serious illnesses.

         25  A student just was trying to get a medical
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          2  withdrawal for MS.  There are all of the very

          3  devastating illnesses, and then there are the minor

          4  colds, and viruses, and flus that tend to keep

          5  students away from their classes and sometimes

          6  impact their retention.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  I think you were

          8  the one that said the GHI plan sometimes is as high

          9  as tuition --

         10                 DR. JACKSON:  Well, --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: And so why did

         12  CUNY choose that?  What were some of the reasons

         13  behind choosing that particular --

         14                 DR. JACKSON:  For a single

         15  individual, the GHI plan was established for

         16  students is approximately $1,800 dollars a year,

         17  right Corey?

         18                 MR. LOWNEY:  Yes.

         19                 DR. JACKSON:  -- Without prescription

         20  coverage.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  And with

         22  prescription coverage is how much?

         23                 DR. JACKSON:  Much more.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: Two-thousand and

         25  change?  All right, so I'm trying --
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          2                 DR. JACKSON:  Yes, $800 something

          3  every three months.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  I'm trying to

          5  figure out why that if it's almost as much as

          6  tuition?

          7                 DR. JACKSON:  Well, we have had a

          8  nation-wide consultant work with the University, to

          9  figure out what would be an insurance that is

         10  relatively cost effective, but for many of our

         11  students it is out of their price range.  It is a

         12  quality health insurance program.  What the

         13  consultant was concerned about, as were we, was that

         14  just having health insurance, any old health

         15  insurance, doesn't mean that you have quality

         16  coverage.  The consultant informed us that across

         17  CUNY he felt, across the nation actually, he felt

         18  that the services provided by GHI were as low as he

         19  could imagine and that it was a quality health care

         20  program. And that is why we don't have the large

         21  number of enrollees, obviously, in the program.  But

         22  quality health care in the private market costs a

         23  lot of money, if you want something that means

         24  something.  We have investigated some programs that

         25  some of the private institutions require for $700 or
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          2  $800 a year, and find that in the end it doesn't

          3  really provide quality health insurance. That you

          4  are paying out premiums, but you actually have many

          5  things that are excluded and high deductibles, so

          6  that his recommendation was that if you are going to

          7  provide a health care, the health care that GHI was

          8  providing was excellent, and he couldn't see a

          9  better one in the Country.  Though we certainly, at

         10  CUNY, understand that for many students it's

         11  unaffordable.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  It doesn't

         13  matter if it's excellent if you can't have access to

         14  it.  It can be the greatest health care in the

         15  world, but if you don't have access to it, what good

         16  is that doing a student?

         17                 The health liaisons that you are

         18  recommending in each campus, talk more about that,

         19  and how will they be recruited, what would the cost

         20  of that, and just some --

         21                 DR. JACKSON:  Well, as I say, we just

         22  came up with this recommendation, and we haven't --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  And the role

         24  that they would play.

         25                 DR. JACKSON:  Exactly.  But they role
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          2  they would play would be, we would recommend, that

          3  there be this health insurance liaison on each

          4  campus, whose job it would be to identify students

          5  who don't have insurance.  Because when you do

          6  health fairs, and the kind of educational programs

          7  that we do, it is kind of hit or miss, and we

          8  certainly get some.  But we would try and identify

          9  student by student who was not insured.  We would

         10  make it, whether it be mandatory or required, for

         11  the uninsured students to have an appointment with

         12  the health liaison, who would identify the best

         13  program for that student, if he or she were

         14  eligible, for many of the health care programs that

         15  are provided that OCHIA represents, and actually

         16  help that student through the process of enrolling.

         17  And make sure that we have an enrolled person.  We

         18  are recommending that identifying and having such an

         19  office, we would be very happy to have it available

         20  to the community at large.  To invite them onto

         21  campus, we had developed an expertise.  That person

         22  would also be able to maintain the records that you

         23  are talking about that are so difficult to do when

         24  you are just doing wellness programs and educational

         25  programs.  But if you have a caseload, it's a
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          2  caseload-based model, where we would identify those

          3  students who are uninsured and it would be the

          4  responsibility of that liaison to make contact with

          5  the uninsured and then take that student through the

          6  process to get insured.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  I just want to

          8  acknowledge that Council Member Miguel Martinez is

          9  here from Manhattan.  We want to thank him for

         10  coming.  Of course, you know that Tony Avella has

         11  been here.  I wanted to open up to my colleagues if

         12  you have any questions or concerns about accessing

         13  health care or health insurance.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:  Thank you,

         15  Mr. Chairman. I apologize for my being late, I got

         16  caught in traffic.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  That traffic,

         18  boy, I tell you. What time did you leave the place

         19   -- raise your hand, do you promise that everything

         20  you say is the truth?

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:  Well, maybe

         22  you answered this question already, but I was

         23  wondering, what kind of coordination do the

         24  different campuses have.  I know that during

         25  registration, there is a lot happening in terms of
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          2  information that is given out to students.  Do you

          3  take advantage of those periods of registration, in

          4  terms of informing and registering those that may

          5  not be enrolled in health insurance?

          6                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

          7  CADOGAN:  Council Member Martinez, one of the things

          8  that we've mentioned is the close working

          9  relationship that OCHIA, The Office of Citywide

         10  Health Insurance Access has had with CUNY around,

         11  taking advantage of the kind of activities and

         12  events that engage students regularly throughout the

         13  school year, and integrating information about

         14  health insurance options and assisting students in

         15  those events in accessing options that they may be

         16  eligible for.

         17                 So, in events like freshman

         18  orientation sessions, including actual instruction

         19  with regard to health insurance options, both public

         20  health insurance, and some of the more affordable

         21  private options that we promote in our office, and

         22  making sure that there are enrollment organizations

         23  that are available to assist those students who want

         24  to actually take action to access those programs.

         25  Working in the wellness fairs that CUNY has, and
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          2  having enrollers available to take advantage of the

          3  opportunity to assist students with enrollment,

          4  various health conferences, and in fact,

          5  participating in the CUNY Daily News Citizen Now!

          6  Program that occurs on a regular basis, and we

          7  participated last year to address some of the issues

          8  with regard to immigrant eligibility in public

          9  health insurance that often may be a, as I call,

         10  trust deterrence, in terms of taking advantage of

         11  public health insurance programs.  Again, we work to

         12  try to insinuate health insurance in those various

         13  opportunities to engage students.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:  Now you're

         15  from --

         16                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         17  CADOGAN:  The Office of Citywide Health Insurance

         18  Access.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:  Okay.  This

         20  is big business also.  To have the different plans,

         21  Health First, Health Plus, all these big health

         22  carriers is also big business.  Same way they come

         23  to our communities and try to participate in

         24  different events and so forth.  I was wondering,

         25  maybe you may not answer that, but to get these
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          2  plans into the different CUNY campuses, they have to

          3  come to your office, or can they go directly to the

          4  different campuses?  And make that kind of --

          5                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

          6  CADOGAN:  They can actually do both, and they

          7  actually do do both.  We administer and initiative

          8  that you may be aware of known as HealthStat, which

          9  engages City agencies and the managed care plans,

         10  the ones that you mentioned, and many others, in a

         11  Citywide collaboration to actually do

         12  neighborhood-based outreach and enrollment, not only

         13  on CUNY campuses, but in a wide array of venues,

         14  agency venue and service sites, as well as

         15  faith-based venues, et cetera.  We work with CUNY to

         16  engage many of the staffs of those managed care

         17  plans and other community-based enrollers to be

         18  present at some focused events that we're aware of

         19  in our partnership with CUNY.

         20                 In addition, many of those

         21  organizations on their own, seek out opportunities

         22  to be involved in student activities and other

         23  things going on --

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:  Right.  No,

         25  the reason I asked particularly, it's all in the
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          2  energy and the effort that you put in, and sometimes

          3  it's just not enough to put a table out. It's like

          4  when we do voter registration.  It's not just enough

          5  to stand on a corner and ask people to register, but

          6  rather than hustling after that individual to

          7  register to vote.  And the same is true in terms of

          8  enrolling individuals.  Some of those carriers are

          9  creative in the way that they engage individuals to

         10  participate, and I know that at one point, I know

         11  that I reach out to one of the CUNY campuses,

         12  because I had a couple of those carriers call me,

         13  that they would be interested in developing a

         14  relationship, and so forth.  But it is also in terms

         15  of the message and the approach you have in terms of

         16  getting individuals to register and the interest of

         17  those who want to register, the ones that are not

         18  registered.  Particularly, I think that CUNY offers

         19  a great opportunity, and I want to commend the Chair

         20  for putting this hearing together.  Not only are we

         21  talking about those young adults, but we are also

         22  talking about children that may not be registered,

         23  taking advantage of the --

         24                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         25  CADOGAN:  Child Health Plus.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: -- Child

          3  Health Plus Initiative, also those mothers or

          4  fathers that are there, that their children don't

          5  have coverage, could take advantage of.  I know that

          6  CUNY offers that opportunity to really capture a

          7  good percentage of that 20 percent that we are

          8  talking about that are usually not registered.  So I

          9  would encourage that we also get involved in some

         10  sort of initiative, in addition to the ones that you

         11  are working already, with the immigration and the

         12  different CUNY activities to encourage some of our

         13  youth and young adults who enroll, not only

         14  themselves but their children.

         15                 So thank you, Mr. Chair.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Thank you.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:  Pleasure

         18  meeting you all. I'm sorry I was late.

         19                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         20  CADOGAN:  Thank you, Council Member.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Yes.  Council

         22  Member Martinez, you raised some very critical

         23  issues.  I am going to be sitting with John Kotowski

         24  (phonetic) and others, and see how we can work

         25  something out to really be supportive.  I think
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          2  Council Member Martinez raised some --

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:  Excuse me,

          4  is that the new Chancellor?

          5                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Pardon me?

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:  You said

          7  you're meeting with John Kotowski?

          8                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Yes, he is the

          9  real Chancellor. Let's get him in trouble, Miguel.

         10  Let's tell the Chancellor that he is trying to take

         11  his position when he's not around.  I notice that he

         12  tries to act like the Chancellor when he's not

         13  around.  So we can tell Jay, and the Chancellor what

         14  he's doing at these hearings.

         15                 Council Member Martinez raised

         16  something very critical, and that is the big

         17  business, the money involved in health care.  I am

         18  really concerned that we would take GHI and students

         19  can't afford it, so then why are we doing this?

         20  That's why I wanted to know how did the process go

         21  about to selecting these groups, because in this

         22  society, you know, it is to the profiteer's benefit

         23  for us not to be healthy.  And that's why they don't

         24  put a lot in preventive care.  Because I think we

         25  need more in preventive care, so we can prevent
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          2  certain things from happening, because treatment is

          3  where you have to roll out the bucks.  I think more

          4  preventive care, so I would like to see us develop

          5  something around preventive care, looking at all of

          6  the business that do, and some of the public ways of

          7  getting health care done.  And this is why I'm

          8  hoping, and I know after this, all of you are going

          9  to join me in becoming socialists instead of

         10  capitalists, because in most socialist societies,

         11  health care is free; you knew that right? So most of

         12  you wouldn't have problems, just on these health

         13  care issues, me considering you socialists health

         14  care advocates; is that correct?  I know the City

         15  refused to shake her head.  I noticed that.  But on

         16  the real side, it is a real problem on the

         17  capitalism, because everything is based upon profit

         18  and making money and it's usually profit over people

         19  and profit over the health care of individuals and

         20  that's a real, real challenge, and that's why I

         21  think socialism is a better thing.

         22                 Moving right along, the other piece

         23  is, why can't we put on the application, on the CUNY

         24  application, are you covered by health care?  And

         25  when you're sending it out to all the students, it

                                                            62

          1  COMMITTEE ON HIGHER EDUCATION

          2  would be a more proactive approach.  Because surveys

          3  is one thing, you know, you're not going to get but

          4  so much, but put it on the application, and say what

          5  kind of health care coverage do you have, or are you

          6  covered by health care?  And at freshman

          7  orientation, rather than just set up the stuff, ask

          8  everybody.  Ask them the question.

          9                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

         10  CADOGAN:  Well, just to expand on your point,

         11  Council Member, in the freshman orientation work

         12  that we've done, it has been an effort, not only to

         13  make the enrollment encounter available, but to talk

         14  to the students who are participating in those

         15  sessions about health insurance, and what's

         16  available.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Right.  I got

         18  that part.  I'm clear on that.  But ask them, are

         19  you insured?  Every last one of them.  And get an

         20  answer.  You can make a presentation, and you can

         21  have stuff available, but ask each and every one of

         22  them, are you insured?  Or put it on the application

         23  so that we can have a real sense of that.

         24                 Good suggestion, also during

         25  registration period, the Registrar's Office, and as
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          2  many ways as we can get involved, ask the question

          3  as well.  It is important for us to know who is

          4  actually insured, and who isn't insured, and what we

          5  can do about that.

          6                 I want to thank you so much for your

          7  testimony. Thank my colleagues, and particularly I

          8  want to thank my Counsel and Policy Analyst, who

          9  come up with these great ideas for hearings.  I get

         10  all the credit, but they usually do most of the

         11  thinking.  I just try to make it happen in the best

         12  way.  I want to thank both of them.  Both of them

         13  deserve a big-hand clap.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:  Mr. Chair,

         15  I don't think they would be the appropriate people

         16  to tell us if CUNY could put it in the CUNY

         17  enrollment application.  So I would like to see what

         18  CUNY says in terms of making that available.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  First of all,

         20  these are the appropriate people, because they heard

         21  me.  They are in the audience.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:  Are you

         23  HRA?

         24                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  No, no, no.

         25  That's CUNY. They're CUNY.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:  Oh, I'm

          3  sorry.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  They had a --

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:  See, that's

          6  what happens when you come in late.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON: When the car

          8  doesn't get you here on time, these things can

          9  happen.

         10                 They do represent CUNY, and there was

         11  a Committee that was put together specifically to

         12  deal with our health care issues.  I think CUNY

         13  certainly got the message.  But thank you for

         14  looking out for me.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:

         16  Particularly in the Community College.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Yes.  Thanks for

         18  looking out for the Chair to make sure I'm on the

         19  case.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:  I should

         21  have asked that question, not on the mike.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Thank you very

         23  much.  This hearing is adjourned.

         24                 Thank you very much for your

         25  participation.
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          2                 EXECUTIVE DEPUTY COMMISSIONER

          3  CADOGAN: Thank you very much.

          4                 DR. JACKSON: Thank you.

          5                 (Hearing concluded at 2:26 p.m.)
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